## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BILL PAUL MARQUARDT,	Ĵ
Appellant,	) )
VS.	CASE NUMBER SC12-555
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SUMTER COUNTY, FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0267082
444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 210
Daytona Beach, Florida 32118
(386) 254-3758
becker.mike@pd7.org
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 15, 2006, the Grand Jury in and for Sumter County returned an indictment charging Appellant with the first degree murder of Margarita Ruiz and the first degree murder of Esperanza Wells in violation of Sections 782.04(1)(a)1 and 775.087(2)(a)1, Florida Statutes (2000) and one count of burglary of a dwelling with a firearm in violation of Sections 810.02(2)(b) and 775.087(2)(a)1, Florida Statutes (2000). (Vol. I, 1-2) Over the course of the next six years, Appellant requested to represent himself at trial; the trial court conducted no less than 12 hearings and determined each time that Appellant was competent to represent himself and allowed him to proceed pro se. (Vol. XI,

2024-2029; Vol. XII, 2301; Vol. XII, 2235; Vol. XII, 2406; Vol. XIII, 2436-2450, Vol. XIII, 2478-2521; Vol. XIII, 2567-2592; Vol. XIV, 2634 et seg; Vol. XIV, 2680 et seg; Vol. XIV, 2721 et seg; Vol. XVI, 6-11; Vol. XVIII, 250 et seg) On 11 occasions, Appellant filed motions to suppress evidence seized from searches of his cabin and automobile. (Vol. I, 101-102; Vol. I, 115; Vol. II, 209-213; Vol. II 241-255; Vol. II, 259-274; Vol. II, 311-326; Vol. II, 382-389, 390-519; Vol. III, 547-554; Vol. III, 558-566; Vol. IV, 668-707; Vol. VII, 1293-1406) Appellant additionally filed numerous motions requesting that a suppression hearing be scheduled and that he be allowed to present evidence with regard to the motions. (Vol. I, 172; Vol. I, 199; Vol. II, 209-213; Vol. II, 218; Vol. II 233; Vol. III, 520-521) The state filed responses to the motions on four occasions, each time arguing either that the motion was legally insufficient or in the alternative that Appellant was collaterally estopped from challenging the searches of his cabin and car. (Vol. II, 214-217; Vol. II, 336-338; Vol. IV, 744-745; Vol. VIII, 1408-1409) Without ever holding an evidentiary hearing, the trial court denied each of Appellant's motions as either legally insufficient, moot, or collaterally estopped. (Vol. II, 221-225; Vol. II, 292-293; Vol. II, 362-363; Vol. II, 375-377; Vol. II, 380-381; Vol. IV, 629-633; Vol. IV, 746-747; Vol. IV, 787-788; Vol. IV, 789-790; Vol. IV, 791-792; Vol. VIII, 1433-1434)

Appellant proceeded to jury trial on October 3-12, 2011, with the Honorable William Hallman, Circuit Court Judge, presiding. (Vols. XVI-XXVII, 1-1378) After deliberations, the jury returned verdicts finding Appellant guilty as charged on all three counts. (Vol. XXVII, 1377-1378; Vol. IX, 1757-1758, 1759-1760, 1761) After the verdict was returned, Appellant waived the penalty phase portion of his trial. (Vol. XXVII, 1382-1396) Over Appellant's objection, the Court appointed Appellant's stand-by counsel, Appellant's two investigators, and Dr. Harry Krop to prepare mitigation for him. (Vol. XXVII, 1401-1402) On February 1, 2012, Appellant appeared before Judge Hallman for the Spencer Hearing. (Vol. XI, 2019-2100) On February 28, 2012, Appellant again appeared before Judge Hallman for sentencing. (Vol. XIII, 2525-2565) After discussing the aggravating factors and the mitigating factors, Judge Hallman concluded that the appropriate sentence was the death penalty for each of the murders and life imprisonment for the burglary charge. (Vol. XIII, 2554; Vol. X, 1994-2007; Vol. XI, 2011-2017)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on February 28, 2012. (Vol. XI, 2102) On March 7, 2012, Appellant appeared before Judge Hallman and requested to proceed pro se on appeal and following a *Faretta* Hearing, Judge Hallman granted Appellant's request. (Vol. XV, 2849-2868) However, on April 30, 2012, pursuant to an order relinquishing jurisdiction, Judge Hallman appointed the

Office of the Public Defender to represent him on appeal. (Vol. XV, 2836-3845)

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Pamela Ruiz is married to Ruki Ruiz. (Vol. XVIII, 288) Ruki's sister-inlaw was Esperanza (Hope) Wells and his mother was Marguerite Ruiz. (Vol. XVIII, 289) In March, 2000, Pamela and Ruki and two children - - Paige, age 3, and Trevor, age 1. (Vol. XVIII, 290) In 2000 when Pamela and her husband went to work, Pamela took the children to Marguerite's and Hope's for them to watch the children. (Vol. XVIII, 291) Marguerite and Hope lived in Webster in Sumter County. (Vol. XVIII, 291) On March 15, 2000, Pamela dropped the children off at approximately 6:50 AM and went inside to talk to Marguerite about the children's party that weekend. (Vol. XVIII, 294-295) Pamela observed no damage to Marguerite's refrigerator which faced the back door as you entered the house. (Vol. XVIII, 293-295) When Pamela left, Marguerite followed and latched the door behind her. (Vol. XVIII, 295) Later that day, the Sumter County Sheriff's Department was called to the home. (Vol. XVIII, 306, 321; Vol. XIX, 374) Upon his arrival at the house, Detective Elmer Havens observed a toddler looking out through the living room window. (Vol. XIX, 374) When the officers entered, they found two small children under the table in the dining room and the proceeded to escort them from the house. (Vol. XVIII, 309, 311; Vol. XIX, 375) The officers then searched the remainder of the house and found the bodies of Marguerite Ruiz

and Hope Wells in the south-west bedroom. (Vol. XVIII, 309; Vol. XIX, 376) Fired shell casings were found on the back porch and the screen door and several bullet holes in it. (Vol. XVIII, 323; Vol. XIX, 395) Additionally, the upper door of the freezer had a bullet hole in it and there was blood splatter on the front of the refrigerator. (Vol. XIX, 395) The police determined that Marguerite had been standing in front of the screen door when she got shot twice through her lung and also received a graze shot wound of the thumb. (Vol. XIX, 403-404) With the first two gun shots entering her chest, Marguerite's internal jugular vein was severed. (Vol. XIX, 420-421) Apparently Ruiz then ran to the bedroom where Hope was still in bed. (Vol. XIX, ??) The perpetrator apparently followed Ruiz and shot her again through the back which severed the spine, spinal cord and aorta. (Vol. XIX, 416-417) Most probably, Marguerite immediately dropped when she was shot due to the severing of the spinal cord. (Vol. XIX, 418) Ruiz had three stab wounds to the left side of her neck. (Vol. XIX, 395) Marguerite Ruiz died from multiple gunshot wounds with a contributing factor of sharp force injuries to her neck. (Vol. XIX, 422) Inside the bedroom next to the body of Marguerite Ruiz, the police found the body of Hope Wells. (Vol. XIX, 376) Hope had a single gunshot wound to the left portion of her face which was inflicted from a distance of 10 to 18 inches. (Vol. XIX, 425-428) The gunshot perforated Hope's jaw bone and

severed both the carotid and jugular veins. (Vol. XIX, 429) It is doubtful that Hope could have survived more that 10 seconds before lapsing into unconsciousness. (Vol. XIX, 429) Paige also had eight stab wounds to the left side of her neck which severed the same two arteries as the gunshot did. (Vol. XIX, 395, 429-430) The cause of death of Hope Wells was a gunshot wound to the face with contributing factor of stab wounds. (Vol. XIX, 431) Neither victim suffered scratches or punch marks and there was no sign of sexual assault. (Vol. XIX, 431-432) Both Marguerite and Hope would have died even without any stab wounds. (Vol. XIX, 445)

The officers processed the scene and lifted several latent prints none of which matched Appellant's. (Vol. XVIII, 342) One unidentified palm print was found on the kitchen counter top near the back door and although it was of comparative value, it was never identified. (Vol. XVIII, 342; Vol. XVIIII, 365, 371) The officers interviewed Paige Ruiz and on the basis of what she told them issued a BOLO and prepared an affidavit for a search warrant based on the fact that Paige told them there was a black man in a green car. (Vol. XVIIII, 380, 465) The Florida Department of Law Enforcement put out a state bulletin concerning unsolved crimes and in that bulletin it stated that a four year old child witness [Paige] indicated that a black male driving a green car was responsible for the

murders. (Vol. XVIIII, 466) Some four years later, however, Paige changed her story and said that she saw a man in dark clothes in a green car. (Vol. XVIIII, 469-470) Based on his investigation, Detective Havens prepared a map of the area and indicated on the map certain houses that were known as drug houses. (Vol. XVIIII, 384-385) Detective Havens also reviewed the Highway 50 video surveillance of March 15, 2000, and neither Appellant nor his 1995 green T-Bird is on the tape. (Vol. XVIIII, 385) Blood was collected from several areas in the home and analyzed at the crime lab and identified as belonging to the victims. (Vol. XX, 488-502) Although the samples were later re-tested, the original analyst never tested Appellant for the DNA samples. (Vol. XX, 504-506) From March 2000, to June 2006 Detective Havens conducted numerous interviews none of which was fruitful. (Vol. XVIIII, 378) Subsequent DNA testing determined that Appellant could not be excluded as a possible contributor to the DNA found at the scene. (Vol. XX, 526) However, at least one of the blood samples tested included an allele that was not present in either Appellant, Marguerite, or Hope, indicating that someone else was present. (Vol. XX, 537) All of the bullets and casings recovered at the scene were examined and determined that those that could be identified all came from the same firearm, a semi-automatic 9mm luger. (Vol. XX, 547-549)

On March 18, 2000, members of the Eau Clair, Wisconsin Sheriff's Department and the Chippewa County, Wisconsin Sheriff's Department converged on a cabin in Fairchild, Wisconsin for the purpose of arresting Appellant and conducting a search of the cabin. (Vol. XXI, 659, 612-615, 635, 659; Vol. XXII, 719, 720) Appellant was placed under arrest at approximately 9:30 AM. (Vol. XXI, 625) Appellant was wearing denim pants, a denim coat, and tennis shoes. (Vol. XXI, 635, 614) Several items were seized from Appellant's pockets including cash, a brass key, plastic key card and folding knife. (Vol. XXI, 615, 636) The police took Appellant's fingerprints and palm prints for comparison to a latent print. (Vol. XXI, 618) The tactical arrest team removed the cabin's kitchen window. (Vol. XXI, 627, 655) Appellant's clothes were seized by the officers and blood was also drawn from Appellant. (Vol. XXI, 663-667) Later that afternoon, Appellant's green T-Bird was towed from the cabin to the county law enforcement building in Madison. (Vol. XXI, 668-669; Vol. XXII, 720) A search of the vehicle revealed a map a Florida and a receipt from the Fiesta Key Resort in Long Boat Key, Florida, which recorded a license plate of a vehicle belonging to Appellant. (Vol. XXII, 722-724) Although the receipt for the Fiesta Kay Resort had Appellant's name on it, the name on the registration record shows Dan Marquardt, not Appellant. (Vol. XXII, 742) A receipt from the Masters Inn in

Tifton, Georgia was found in Appellant's cabin. (Vol. XXI, 670-673) Although the receipt was found on March 15, 2000, Investigator Vogler testified that the receipt was dated March 16, 2000. (Vol. XXI, 673) Later, however, Vogler "corrected" himself and stated the receipt was not listed on the inventory of items seized on March 15, 2000. (Vol. XXI, 704)

On the March 18, 2000, search warrant for Appellant's cabin, the first item listed is any and all ammunition and firearms. (Vol. XXII, 763) However, no firearm or bullets were found during that search. (Vol. XXII, 758, 758) Despite specifically looking for firearms and ammunition, the officers did not move any of the appliances. (Vol. XXII, 763) However, a photo taken on March 18, 2000, reveals a bullet found in front of the refrigerator. (Vol. XXII, 771) Although Officer Christopher testified that on the date of the first search, there was a pile of clothing in front of the refrigerator (Vol. XXII, 760), photos taken that day do not show such a pile of clothing. (Vol. XXII, 774)

On March 29, 2000, the police arrived at the cabin to execute a second search warrant. (Vol. XXII, 787) Detective Price found something under the refrigerator and called the investigating officer to look at it. (Vol. XXII, 789)

Investigator Rehrauer laid down on the floor and shined his flashlight under the refrigerator where he found a 9mm semi-automatic weapon and two yellow boxes

of shells. (Vol. XXII, 789-792) Rehrauer allowed it was easy for the bullets to be pushed under the refrigerator and that he had no problem seeing them on March 29, 2000. (Vol. XXII, 797, 802-803) An analysis of the arm rest of Appellant's green T-Bird revealed blood stains on the arm rest. (Vol. XXIII, 856) The lesser contributor to this blood could have been Appellant, but the major contributor was that of an unknown female. (Vol. XXIII, 858) In 2006, the blood stain was compared to a known sample from Marguerite Ruiz and did not match, but did match a known sample from Hope Wells. (Vol. XXIII, 860-861) A blood stain found on the jean jacket that Appellant was wearing when he was arrested was tested and it was determined that Appellant, Wells, and Ruiz could all be contributors. (Vol. XXIII, 863) The white tennis shoes that were seized from Appellant on the day he was arrested had blood on them and the major contributor was the same as the sample found on the arm rest - - Hope Wells. (Vol. XXIII, 869-870) The folding knife that was found at Appellant's cabin was tested and was found to have blood traces. (Vol. XXIII, 872) An examination of the knife revealed that it contained DNA from Appellant, Ruiz, and Wells, but the major source of the blood was from Appellant's mother, Mary Marquardt. (Vol. XXIII, 873, 881) There was also some areas that were tested on the knife that were negative for human blood. (Vol. XXIII, 884) Although some blood was found on

the socks that Appellant was wearing it was determined that the source of this was not from Ruiz or Wells. (Vol. XXIII, 879-880) Although the stain that was found in the living room of Marguerite, was analyzed and matched Appellant's DNA. although the analyst who examined it examined the extract and not the actual swab. (Vol. XXIII, 903) That analyst found some DNA that was neither Appellant's nor the victims. (Vol. XXIII, 904) The boxes of bullets that were found in Appellant's cabin were never submitted from fingerprinting. (Vol. XXIII, 923) Eventually it was determined that Appellant had four motor vehicles registered in his name, including a green T-Bird, and Chevy Blazer, and a GEO Metro. (Vol. XXIII, 930-936) A forensic scientist from Wisconsin examined the evidence that was seized from Appellant's cabin. (Vol. XXIV, 1020-1027) He found no identifiable fingerprints on the gun or the boxes of ammunition. (Vol. XXIV, 1021) The "old timer" knife was examined and revealed no usable prints. (Vol. XXIV, 1022-1023) However, a usable palm print was found on the carton which contained the knife and when compared to Appellant did not reveal a match. (Vol. XXIV, 1023-1024)

Michael Conner, the manager of a self-storage facility in Valdosta, Georgia, has various sized storage units, some of which can fit cars into them. (Vol. XXIV, 1029) In February, 2000, there was a 1995 green T-Bird driven to the storage unit

and placed in a rental unit. (Vol. XXIV, 1030) Conner then drove the person to the Greyhound Bus station. (Vol. XXIV, 1030) The computer keeps track of anyone who accesses the unit because each person receives a code for the unit rented. (Vol. XXIV, 1030-1031) After February, 2000, the next time that code was used was March 15, 2000, at 8:08 PM, with the person leaving at 8:28 PM. (Vol. XXIV, 1031-1033) Conner admitted that the date could have been March 16<sup>th</sup> if he had not recalibrated the computer to account for a leap year. (Vol. XXIV, 1033) The storage facility is located 45 - 50 miles from Tifton, Georgia. (Vol. XXIV, 1037) On the Tifton, Georgia motel receipt, the date of arrival is March 16, 2000, and the date of departure is March 17, 2000. (Vol. XXIV, 1038) Approximately one month later police came to the storage unit and had Conner cut the lock off the unit that had been rented to Appellant. (Vol. XXIV, 1038) There was a red Tracer in the unit which shocked Conner since that was not the car originally placed in the unit. (Vol. XXIV, 1038)

On March 18, 2000, Appellant's father received a call telling him that his son's cabin needed to be secured. (Vol. XXIV, 1054-1055, 1050) When he arrived at the cabin, Appellant's father observed the window behind the refrigerator had been removed. (Vol. XXIV, 1055) In order to fix the window and to reach the electrical box which was also behind the refrigerator, Appellant's

father moved the refrigerator out. (Vol. XXIV, 1055) At the bottom of the refrigerator there is a pan and a screen that is very low to the floor. (Vol. XXIV, 1063) These would cause anything that was under the refrigerator to be moved. (Vol. XXIV, 1063) Appellant's father never saw a gun or the two yellow boxes of bullets. (Vol. XXIV, 1055) Appellant was in jail from March 18, 2000, before the first search of his cabin. (Vol. XXIV, 1067) Because the kitchen window swings upward on hinges, one would have to move the refrigerator in order to remove the window. (Vol. XXIV, 1068) The hinges on the window were not broken. (Vol. XXIV, 1068) Appellant's mother, Mary Marquardt, was killed on March 15, 2000. (Vol. XXIV, 1070, 1051)

Cathy Buchanan drove past the Ruiz/Well's home around 8:00 AM on March 15, 2000. (Vol. XXIV, 1099-1101) When she drove past the house, Buchanan saw a green, two-tone Cutlass parked on the side of the house. (Vol. XXIV, 1102) The car was a late '70's model with darker green on top and lighter green on the bottom. (Vol. XXIV, 1102) The evening before the murders, Buchanan observed a gold station wagon in the driveway and a black man standing at the porch. (Vol. XXIV, 1103) Also on that morning, Wayne Wright drove past the house where the homicides occurred on his way to work. (Vol. XXIV, 1107) Across from the house, Wright observed a green car with the

driver's door open. (Vol. XXIV, 1108) The car was a small car, either a Saturn or an Escort. (Vol. XXIV, 1109) Wisconsin investigator Richard Price contacted Michael Overheart in Aurora, Illinois and seized a black Thunderbird registered to Appellant from him. (Vol. XXIV, 1116) Overheart told Price that he was not working during the week of March 15, 2000. (Vol. XXIV, 1118) When Wright interviewed Overheart, Overheart said he had not seen Appellant since the fall of 1999. (Vol. XXIV, 1128)

Jerry Cirino, a senior crime lab analyst with FDLE, examined fibers found on the bodies of Marguerite and Hope and also three green nylon fibers found next to the bodies. (Vol. XXIV, 1141-1142) Cirino was unable to find the source of these fibers. (Vol. XXIV, 1143) However, he compared them to the material in the 1995 green Thunderbird and they did not match. (Vol. XXIV, 1143) Investigator Scott Lange measured the distance between Webster, Florida and Osseo, Wisconsin to be between 1404 and 1458 miles which would take a driving between 23 hours and 43 minutes and 24 hours. (Vol. XXV, 1152, 1155) The distance between Osseo, Wisconsin and Valdosta, Georgia is between 1211 and 1260 miles and would take between 20 hours and 31 minutes and 21 hours and 40 minutes to drive. (Vol. XXV, 1155) These times do not include food, sleep or comfort breaks. (Vol. XXV, 1156)

In March, 2000, Rojelio Estrada lived on State Road 50, in Tarrytown which was approximately 4-5 blocks from the victims' house. (Vol. XXVI, 1190) On the morning of March 15, 2000, Estrada drove past the house and saw a little green car parked there. (Vol. XXVI, 1190) The car was either a Beretta or a Cavalier. (Vol. XXVI, 1191) Estrada went home and met with some bikers and was outside when he heard several shots at about 9:30 - 10:00 AM. (Vol. XXVI, 1191) Estrada had seen the green car before and believed that it belonged to a black man, Pernell Williams. (Vol. XXVI, 1191-1192)

### FACTS FROM SPENCER HEARING:

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