IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BILL PAUL MARQUARDT,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC12-555

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SUMTER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

MITCHELL D. BISHOP ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 43319

Office of the Attorney General
444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500
Daytona Beach, Florida 32118
E-Service:
CapApp@myfloridalegal.com
Secondary E-Mail:
Mitchell.Bishop@myfloridalegal.com
(386)238-4990
(386)22-0457 (FAX)
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In this case, the trial court found that collateral estoppel applied because the lawfulness of the search of Marquardt's cabin—the exact issue he raised in his motion to suppress—had been settled by the Wisconsin Supreme Court when it ruled that the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule applied to the Wisconsin law enforcement agents' reliance on the defective warrant. Marguardt, 705 N.W. 2d at 884. While there are no facts from a suppression hearing to which this Court should defer, the trial court made procedural findings and identified the correct legal precedent as articulated by this Court and applied it to the undisputed circumstances. This Court has previously held that it would apply the law of the situs of the search—in this case, Wisconsin law—to its determination of the admissibility of the evidence seized. See Echols, 484 So. 2d at 571-572. This Court has also left undisturbed numerous opinions from our District Courts of Appeal applying the doctrine of collateral estoppel. See generally McClellan v. State, 359

So. 2d 869, 873 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); *Tarawneh v. State*, 562 So. 2d 770, 772 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); *Brown v. State*, 397 So. 2d 320 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1981); *Tamer v. State*, 463 So. 2d 1236, 1240 n.2 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); *Miller v. State*, 545 So. 2d 343, 344 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989); *Ritch v State*, 14 So. 3d 1104 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009). Furthermore, like Wisconsin, this Court has ruled that the good-faith exception to the exclusionary rule applies in Florida criminal procedure. *State v. Peterson*, 739 So. 2d 561, 564 (Fla. 1999); *Johnson v. State*, 660 So. 2d 648, 654 (Fla. 1995) (*citing United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897 (1984).

Accordingly, the trial court's ruling was correct. There is no basis for relief on this claim.

F. Harmless Error.

Even if the trial court erred in denying Marquardt's motions to suppress, error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Even if the trial court had conducted an evidentiary hearing with the Wisconsin law enforcement agents and found that the search warrant was legally defective, the court would have applied the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule, based on this Court's precedent, and the evidence would have been admitted nonetheless. *See Peterson*, 739 So. 2d at 564.

ISSUE II: WHETHER IT WAS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO REQUIRE THE DEFENDANT TO PROFFER HIS LIST OF WITNESSES AND THEIR

EXPECTED TESTIMONY AND WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR'S STATEMENT ABOUT THE AUTOPSY PHOTOGRAPHS WAS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR

In this issue, Marquardt challenges the trial court's action in asking the prose Defendant to proffer his list of witnesses and their expected testimony. Marquardt also challenges the prosecutor's comments before the jury regarding the admissibility of the autopsy photographs. The Appellant claims that the trial court abandoned its neutral role by requiring the witness proffer and discussing the potential admonition of some defense witnesses for perjury. The Appellant claims that the prosecutor "personally vouched" for the guilt of the Defendant to the members of the jury.

The Appellant acknowledges that neither of these issues were preserved through objection nor motion and in order for this Court to grant relief, the actions must have risen to the level of fundamental error.

A. The Standard of Appellate Review

Failing to raise a[n] objection waives any claim for appellate review. *Mosley v. State*, 46 So. 3d 510, 519 (Fla. 2009). "The sole exception to [this] general rule is where the unobjected-to comments rise to the level of fundamental error." *Id. See also Crump v. State*, 622 So. 2d 963, 972 (Fla. 1993) ("Absent fundamental error, we find that the defense counsel failed to preserve the issue for review, thus precluding appellate review").

B. The Trial Judge's Action and the Prosecutor's Statements The Defendant's Witness Proffer

On the third day of trial, as the State drew close to finishing its case-in-chief, the trial court dismissed the jury for the remainder of the day. (V20, R563). The Court inquired of the prosecutor how much more time he anticipated the State's case taking. The Court also asked the Defendant if he was able to proffer the witnesses he anticipated calling in his case-in-defense.

THE COURT: . . . Mr. Marquardt, are you in a position to kind of give us an idea of what these witnesses that are coming up, at least for, let's say, Friday morning?

THE DEFENDANT: Um, um, you want to know the list of the witnesses?

THE COURT: well, let's go ahead and let's get a list of your witnesses again, and just if you could – and go slowly so I can write them down so I have notes here to go through.

At which point the Defendant commenced to listing his witnesses that he would call in his case-in-defense. The trial court had patiently struggled with the Defendant previously in pre-trial hearings when Marquardt was asking for deposition orders from the court but his discovery witness list had his witnesses categorized incorrectly under *Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure* 3.220. (V21, R2350-2355; 2413-2414).

During the bench conference in question under this issue, the State raised concerns that some of the witnesses the Defendant listed had no relevant testimony

to offer. The trial court was concerned about the Defendant eliciting from his witnesses irrelevant, cumulative, hearsay, or otherwise legally inadmissible testimony. (V20, R566-567). The trial court, however, noted that the Defendant is permitted to develop his defense and some of the credibility issues can be explored by the State on cross-examination. One of the Defendant's witnesses, Billy Sizemore, told the State's investigators he could lead the police to the murder weapon and he would implicate some third-party in the murders. (V20, R573-575). There were significant concerns with Mr. Sizemore's credibility and the lack of reliability of trustworthiness, the legal standard for third-party admission/confession. (V20, R574) (When detectives interviewed Sizemore in a jail in New Mexico, he essentially indicated that he would do anything in exchange for leniency from the State). Then the Defendant proffered the name of a witness, a Mr. Estrada, who he claimed lived next door to the victims, heard gunshots, and saw a Parnell Williams' car at the murder scene and had sworn to all of this before a notary public within a few weeks of the trial. (V20, 577-578). However, the prosecutor indicated that Mr. Estrada's information came primarily from hearsay sources. (V20, R579). The Court then discussed the potential for admonishing some of the defense witnesses of the punishment for perjury. (V20, R580-581).

The trial court was concerned that the Defendant had no good faith basis to believe the witnesses had legally admissible testimony and that the Defendant

would be conducting discovery on the witnesses stand. (V20, R584). When asked about Parnell Williams, the Defendant told the trial court, "I don't know what he's going to say on the stand." (V20, R584). The entire colloquy between the trial court, the Defendant, and the prosecutor concerned whether or not the Defendant's witnesses had anything relevant to offer that was legally admissible before the jury. (V20, R562-604).

The Prosecutor's Statements about the Autopsy Photographs

During the prosecutor's direct examination of the medical examiner about the autopsies he performed on the victims, the State offered into evidence the "photo ID shot" of Margarita Ruiz as she appeared before the pathologist began the autopsy. (V19, R396). The following exchange took place:

MR. MAGRINO: Judge, I'd offer R for identification into evidence.

THE COURT: That would be, I think at this point would be State's --

THE CLERK: Fifteen.

THE COURT: Any objection?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. I don't like autopsy photos being admitted, they're too explicit or not.

MR. MAGRINO: Judge, if he's got a legal objection, that's fine. That's evidence involved in this case as a result of what he did, and that's something that I have to prove to these members of the jury.

THE COURT: As to the objection then, is overruled and that will be State's 15 in evidence.

(The above-mentioned document was marked as State's Exhibit number 15, as of this date.)

BY MR. MAGRINO:

Q Doctor, if you would --

MR. MAGRINO: If I could publish briefly, Judge?

THE COURT: Yes.

(The above-mentioned exhibit was published to the jury as follows:)

BY MR. MAGRINO:

Q Would you explain to the members of the jury what an autopsy consists of.

That brief exchange was the extent of the prosecutor's comments to which the Appellant now takes issue.

C. Supporting Case Law

This Court has defined fundamental error as an error that "reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." *Mosley*, 46 So. 3d at 519. If the action by the trial court or the statement by the prosecutor in this case did not rise to the level of fundamental error—that is to say, the action or statement did not vitiate the Defendant's right to a fair trial—then this Court should deny relief for the claim. *Braddy v. State*, 111 So. 3d 810, 843 (Fla. 2013), *Pooler v. State*, 980 So. 2d 460, 472 (Fla. 2008). *See also Peterson v. State*, 94

So. 3d 514, 523-525 (Fla. 2012) (in a capital murder trial, the court did not commit fundamental error in allowing evidence to be presented to the jury that implied the defendant had committed a collateral murder).

For the trial court to have abandoned its neutral role, it must take action to interject itself into the proceedings and take on the role of a particular party to the case. *Williams v. State*, 967 So. 2d 735, 750-751 (Fla. 2007), *citing Williams v. State*, 901 So. 2d 357 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) (court prompted the State during trial to alter allegation in first of two counts of information to fit proof of offense); *Evans v. State*, 831 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) (trial court suggested that prosecution inquire into the immigration status of the defendant); *Sparks v. State*, 740 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) (trial court indicated evidence that prosecution could use for impeachment).

While this Court has condemned prescreening remarks and prosecutors who personally vouch for the defendant's guilt or make other improper comments, not all comments are improper and not all improper comments are fundamental error. *Wade v. State*, 41 So. 3d 857, 870-871 (Fla. 2010) (finding no error in prosecutor's argument that a vote for life would be irresponsible and a violation of the jurors' duty); *Mosley*, 46 So. 3d at 522 (condemning prescreening comments claiming State Attorney does not seek death in all cases—implying that death is proper for the case before the jury—but finding no fundamental error in

prosecutor saying generically, "not every case is a death case"); *Farina v. State*, 937 So. 2d 612, 629-630 (Fla. 2006) (Prosecutor elicited Biblical scripture implying that he was God's servant and that all should submit to his authority, held to be improper but not fundamental error).

In this case, the trial court asked the Defendant to indicate the witnesses that he might call, at least through the morning of the fifth day of trial. The trial court inquired of the Defendant's witness list so that he could plan logistically for the next few days of trial. When the Prosecutor indicted that there may be some evidentiary concerns with the testimony of some of the witnesses, the trial court inquired further of the potential substance of the testimony to ensure that the Defendant would not put witnesses on the stand that would offer irrelevant, cumulative, hearsay, or otherwise legally inadmissible testimony to the jury. The entire colloquy between the trial court and the parties was conducted outside the presence of the jury. It is also worth noting that the trial court did not admonish any of the Defendant's witnesses of the potential punishments for perjury.³⁰

Sergeant Robert Cunningham, Chippewa County Sheriff's Department, Wisconsin (V24, R1014); Gerald Kotajarvi, forensic scientist, (retired), Wisconsin (V24, R1020); Michael Connor, Manager, self-storage facility in Valdosta, Georgia (V24, R1029); Sheila Marquardt, Marquardt's sister (V24, R1048); Alfred Marquardt, Marquardt's father (V24, R1054); Cathy Buchanan, resident of Webster, Florida (V24, R1097); Billy Sizemore, resident of Ruiz/Wells' town

The prosecutor did not personally vouch for the guilt of the Defendant in front of the jury. The prosecutor's statement about the autopsy photographs only indicated that it was evidence of the murders that he was offering in order to meet the State's burden of proof. The prosecutor said that the photograph was "evidence of what [Marquardt] did, and that's something that I have to prove to these members of the jury." It is axiomatic that the prosecutor is permitted to offer legally competent evidence to prove the Defendant is guilty. It is equally as axiomatic that the prosecutor is permitted to argue that the Defendant is guilty of the crime charged based on the evidence. In this case the prosecutor did nothing more than offer evidence to meet his burden of proof and state that he was doing just that when the Defendant raised on objection. As this Court has stated in past cases, "Those whose work products are murdered human beings should expect to be confronted by photographs of their accomplishments." Chavez v. State, 832 So. 2d 730, 763 (Fla. 2002) (quoting Henderson v. State, 463 So.2d 196, 200 (Fla. 1985)).

(V24, R1105); Wayne Wright, resident of Ruiz/Wells' town (V24, R1107); Investigator Richard Price, Chippewa County Sheriff's Department, Wisconsin (V24, R1111); Thomas Fedor, forensic serologist, Richmond, California (V24, R1133); Jerry Cirino, senior crime lab analyst, FDLE (V24, R1141); Scott Lange, private investigator, Wisconsin (V25, R1152); Rojelio Estrada, resident in Ruiz/Wells' town (V26, R1189); Deputy Lee Baker (retired), Florida (V26, R1224).

D. Appellant's Case Law is Distinguishable and Not Applicable

Appellant cites *Martinez v. State*, 761 So. 2d 1074 (Fla. 2000), *Gore v. State*, 719 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1998); *State v. Ramos*, 579 So. 2d 360 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), to support his argument concerning the prosecutor's statement. These cases are distinguishable from this case.

In *Martinez*, during direct examination of one of the police detectives, the prosecutor elicited the detective's opinion on the defendant's guilty, to which the detective responded with his opinion that there was no doubt the defendant was guilty. 761 So. 2d at 1079-1081. Then the prosecutor compounded the issue by not only arguing the detective's opinion in closing argument, but also adding the additional opinion of another prosecutor that was not only inadmissible, but was not based on evidence before the jury. *Id.* The prosecutor in Martinez also offered additional improper argument in closing and found error in the combination of improper argument from the prosecutor in that case.

In *Gore*, during cross examination of the defendant, the prosecutor became emotional and stated, "Well, you know what, you're right, I am [trying to kill you], because somebody who does what you do deserves to die." 719 So. 2d at 1201. The prosecutor in Gore also argued to the jury that "he [the Judge] can never make me say that's [referring to Gore] a human being." *Id*. This Court held that, "Goaded by Gore, the prosecutor abandoned any semblance of professionalism" *Id*.

In *Ramos*, the prosecutor personally commented on his belief in the credibility of a witness. 579 So. 2d at 362. The prosecutor also implied that the defendant was the target of an "ongoing narcotics investigation" by the State; a point unsupported by the evidence. *Id*.

The errors that are present in the various arguments in *Martinez*, *Gore*, and *Ramos* are not present in this case. The prosecutor in this case indicated that the photographs are evidence of that the Defendant did—something he would be permitted to do in closing argument. The prosecutor also qualified his statement by say, "and that is something that I have to prove to these members of the jury." The prosecutor did not interject his personal views of the Defendant's guilt into his statements and he did not argue inadmissible or legally incompetent evidence to the jury.

E. Harmless Error

The state recognizes that a harmless error analysis is inapplicable to a fundamental error analysis. *Haygood v. State*, 109 So. 3d 735, 741 (Fla. 2013). Furthermore, should this Court find that the trial court's action and/or the prosecutor's statement constituted error, but not fundamental, then this issue is precluded from appellate review for lack of preservation. *Crump*, 622 So. 2d at 972.

ISSUE III: WHETHER COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE

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